INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

Sovereign Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Investing: Chasing Elusive Sustainability

Ekaterina Gratcheva (IMF) and Bryan Gurhy (IMF)

WP/24/102

IMF Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published to elicit comments and to encourage debate. The views expressed in IMF Working Papers are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of the IMF, its Executive Board, or IMF management.

2024 MAY



© 2024 International Monetary Fund

WP/24/102

IMF Working Paper Monetary and Capital Markets Department

Sovereign Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Investing: Chasing Elusive Sustainability

Prepared by Ekaterina Gratcheva and Bryan Gurhy

Authorized for distribution by Fabio Natalucci and Prasad Ananthakrishnan May 2024

IMF Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published to elicit comments and to encourage debate. The views expressed in IMF Working Papers are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of the IMF, its Executive Board, or IMF management.

ABSTRACT: This paper evaluates the progression of the sovereign ESG landscape since the initial comprehensive assessment of the sector in 2021 in "Demystifying Sovereign ESG" by conducting a comparative analysis of the current sovereign ESG methodologies of commercial ESG providers. The 2021 study articulated the distinct nature of the sovereign ESG segment from corporate ESG and documented fundamental shortcomings in sovereign ESG methodologies, such as the "ingrained income bias", lack of consensus on environmental performance, and conflation of risk and sustainability objectives. While sovereign ESG methodologies have evolved since 2021, the significant correlation across providers of aggregate, S, and G scores persist. In response to market demand there has been a notable shift towards greater focus on the E pillar against growing heterogeneity on climate and environmental considerations across ESG providers. The findings underscore the disparity between perceptions and realities in implementing a sustainability strategy within the sovereign debt asset class. This necessitates a reevaluation of sovereign ESG scoring methodologies towards outcome-based metrics and urges a globally coordinated effort to establish robust sustainability measurement frameworks.

RECOMMENDED CITATION: Gratcheva, E., and O'Reilly Gurhy, B. 2024. "Sovereign Environmental, Social and Governance Investing: Chasing Elusive Sustainability." IMF Working Paper 2024, International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.

JEL Classification Numbers:	M14, G23, G24
Keywords:	ESG, sovereign debt, sovereign ESG scores, sustainability, environmental and climate sustainability, climate financial architecture
Author's E-Mail Address:	egratcheva@imf.org, bgurhy@imf.org

WORKING PAPER

Sovereign Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Investing: Chasing Elusive Sustainability¹

Prepared by Ekaterina Gratcheva (IMF) and Bryan Gurhy (IMF)²

¹ We extend our gratitude to the ESG providers who contributed to this study through their participation, insightful discussions, and methodological clarifications. Our thanks also go to colleagues from the IMF, the World Bank, and the industry for their valuable feedback and comments. We acknowledge the research assistance and analysis of Sophie Logan from the World Bank for the initial draft of this paper. Any errors or omissions in this paper are solely our responsibility. The opinions presented herein are ours and should not be attributed to the IMF, the World Bank, their Executive Directors, or management.

² The authors developed a substantial part of this working paper while at the World Bank, contributing to the knowledge series on Sovereign ESG for the Global Program on Sustainability (GPS). The objective of GPS is to promote the use of high-quality data and analysis of sustainability to better inform decisions made by governments, the private sector, and financial institutions. The Sovereign ESG knowledge series develops and disseminates practical, evidence-based recommendations for market participants, including institutional investors, sovereign issuers, credit rating agencies, ESG data and service providers, among others. Other papers in the series include "<u>Riding the Wave: Navigating the ESG Landscape for Sovereign Debt Managers</u>," "<u>A New Dawn – Rethinking Sovereign ESG</u>," "<u>Credit Worthy: ESG Factors and Sovereign Credit Ratings</u>," "<u>The Potential Implications of Economic and Social Rights for Sovereign Debt Investing</u>", among others.

Acknowlegments

We would like to extend our gratitude to Anne-Marie Brook (Rights Intelligence); Umar Akram, Michael Blakeslee and Laura Lutton (Sustainalytics/Morningstar); AJ Lindeman and Lizzette Lara (Bloomberg); Abdessamad Hniche, Julien Moussavi, Astrid Flores Moya and Emeric Nicolas (LSEG); Claudia Gollmeier (Colchester Global Investors); Coziana Ciurea Butler (Sustainable Finance Consultant); Elena Grigorenko, Advait Mohole and Dennis Schuler (Reprisk); Esther Law (Amundi); Rachel Mok, Fiona Steward and Dieter Wang (World Bank); Kay Chung, Stephanie Fontana-Raina, Charlotte Gardes-Landolfini, Zeina Hasna and Nila Khanolkar (IMF); Jasper Cox (PRI); Max Schieler, Lauren Swinkels and Jan Anton van Zanten (Robeco); Sasha Pagella and James Lockhart Smith (Maplecroft); Petya Barzilska, Jean-Charles Guillemin, Joe Henzlik, Ivo Kresta, Shivani Raheja and Kristina Rüter (ISS Governance); Libby Bernick (Impact Cubed); Lydia Harvey, Luis Oganes and Ethan Ross (J.P. Morgan); Mariana Gauna, Robert Goyeneche, Jamie Nulph, and Alexander Schober (MSCI) for their invaluable comments and insights which have significantly enriched this work. We would also like to thank Fabio Natalucci, Ananthakrishnan Prasad and Padamja Khandelwal for their support and guidance.

Contents

Executive Summary5
Section 1: Evolving Market Landscape8
Section 2: Sovereign ESG Providers Included in Study11
Section 3: Empirical Analysis of Sovereign ESG Scores16
Section 4: The Sovereign Environmental Pillar21
Section 5: Conclusions
Annex 1. Regulating the ESG Rating Industry26
Annex 2. State of Sovereign ESG Detailed Disclosures across Providers
Annex 3. Addressing Income Bias in Sovereign ESG Scoring
Annex 4. E Correlations by Income Group and Region31
References and Resources

Executive Summary

Sustainable finance has evolved rapidly over the past decade, with the most significant shifts occurring in recent years. These changes have been fueled by several factors, including geopolitical shocks in Europe and the Middle East, the rapid tightening of interest rates in advanced economies (AEs), increasing regulatory scrutiny on environmental, social, and governance (ESG) market practices, as well as advancements in understanding sustainable finance's impacts and limitations. Amidst the uncertain global landscape and evolving market environment, asset owners continue to pursue sovereign ESG approaches when investing in sovereign bonds and persist in exploring strategies to use the sovereign bond market as an effective mechanism to allocate capital to productive and transformative investments (Cox and Wescombe 2023; Natwest 2023; Robeco, 2023; Scheer et al. 2023).

Sovereign ESG has gained prominence in the industry as sovereign bonds represent the largest asset class and a crucial component of institutional investor portfolios worldwide. The concept of ESG has been evolving. While corporate ESG in its current form can be traced back to the late twentieth century, sovereign ESG has only gained prominence in the last five or so years. Sovereign ESG scores form a fundamental part of the data architecture that underpins ESG investing in sovereign debt, and they play an increasingly influential role in shaping investors' sentiment towards sovereign issuers and guiding capital allocation decisions.

This paper evaluates the progression of the sovereign ESG provider¹ landscape since the initial comprehensive assessment of the sector in 2021 (Gratcheva, Emery, and Wang (2021a)) by conducting a comparative analysis of current sovereign ESG methodologies of seven ESG providers² accounting for approximately 80 percent of the sovereign ESG provider market. The 2021 study was the first comprehensive analysis to differentiate between sovereign and corporate ESG concepts, necessitating distinct approaches. It also documented significant shortcomings in sovereign ESG methodologies prevalent across the industry. Specifically, the study found that sovereign ESG scores reflect primarily a country's income rather than its sustainability efforts (the so-called "ingrained income bias"), leading to unintended consequences of diverting capital from lower-income countries to more developed ones. Additionally, the study highlighted the conflation of risk and sustainability goals in sovereign ESG methodologies and a need to better articulate what constitutes a good environmental performance by a sovereign.

The key findings of the updated study are as follows.

Sovereign ESG vs. corporate ESG: collective conformity vs. aggregate confusion. As was the case in the 2021 study, sovereign ESG scores continue to display high correlation in aggregate (0.84), G (0.70), and S (0.70) scores across providers³ in contrast to low correlations in the corporate ESG scores (Berg,

¹ Throughout the paper we use the term "ESG provider" to describe participants in the ESG data industry that provide a suite of ESG activities related to ESG assessments, ratings, and other data products.

² LSEG, ISS ESG, MSCI, RepRisk, Robeco, Sustainalytics, Verisk Maplecroft.

³ The average correlation for aggregate scores among providers is 0.84 compared to 0.85 for the 2021 study. We continue to see close alignment among providers on the G pillar scores (0.70 in 2023 vs. 0.71 in 2021), and some reduced correlations for the S pillar scores (0.70 in 2023 vs. 0.85 in 2021).

Kölbel, and Rigobon 2022). The high homogeneity among sovereign ESG scores can largely be attributed to the reliance on the same data pool for sovereign ESG indicators, resulting in a strong positive relationship between sovereign scores and a country's income level for all sovereign ESG score providers.

Environment and climate: growing focus and widening divergence within the E pillar. The study highlights a further deepening focus on and higher weighting⁴ for the environmental (E) pillar in sovereign ESG scores in response to the growing market interest in environmental and climate issues. Compared to the 2021 study, E scores exhibit a growing dispersion across ESG providers, with the correlation decreasing from 0.42 to 0.27. This underscores significant heterogeneity in approaches to assessing a sovereign's environmental performance and climate across the seven ESG providers analyzed in the study. These approaches can be broadly categorized as "generalist" or "specialist." The generalist approach aims to evaluate a wide spectrum of environmental issues, while the specialist approach concentrates on a narrower range of issues tailored to the specific priorities of individual providers.

Ingrained income bias: advancing awareness and diverse interventions. To address the critical issue of the ingrained income bias in sovereign ESG methodologies, two ESG providers have introduced separate income adjusted scores using statistical adjustments to control for income⁵. Income-adjusted scores result in outsized impacts on certain countries and regions, with the average score for high and upper-middle-income countries decreasing by 14 percent and the average score for lower-middle- and lower-income countries increasing by 46 percent. The Middle East experiences the largest decrease in ESG scores on average (-33 percent), and the largest income-adjusted score increases are concentrated in Africa (+ 42 percent). The other ESG providers in the study do not regard income bias as a substantive issue as their scores seek to measure ESG-related risks only, which they generally claim are correlated with the countries' level of development.

The paper highlights the complexities of implementing a sustainability strategy in the sovereign debt asset class. The lack of a universally accepted definition of "sustainability" impedes the formation of a coherent ESG investment strategy, is compounded by a diverse investor sustainability preference welfare function (Berg, Kölbel, and Rigobon (2023)), and is further complicated by the complexities of defining sustainability in the context of a sovereign issuer. In addition, using oversimplified metrics that amalgamate numerous interdisciplinary issues into a single ESG measure risks compromising the depth and precision of analytical methods. As a result, entities within the financial sector are increasingly susceptible to allegations of greenwashing (Generali Investments 2022; RepRisk 2023) and face a growing threat of legal challenges (Roy et al. 2022).

⁴ Average E weightings in the overall Sovereign ESG scores increased by 4 percentage points from 29 to 33 percent.

⁵ LSEG and Verisk Maplecroft have introduced statistical adjustments in their methodology to account for the income bias. Other providers such as Robeco, while not adjusting for the income bias in their sovereign ESG methodology have launched a separate sovereign sustainability product which evaluates countries based on their policy alignment with SDGs, their accessibility to capital intended for sustainable growth, and their foundational commitment to sustainability principles. Other specialist providers such as Impact Cubed have launched sovereign debt products focused on assessing if countries are leading or lagging on progress in achieving the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Despite some improvements in transparency within ESG provider methodologies, the analysis continues to reveal ambiguities regarding the objectives of sovereign ESG scores. The majority of sovereign ESG scores in the industry primarily assess sustainability risks that may affect financial returns, rather than focusing on those that promote positive sustainability outcomes. This raises fundamental questions about the added value of a distinct sovereign ESG framework, as such an approach falls within the domain of traditional risk-adjusted return investing (Edmans, 2023). In their current form, sovereign ESG scores do not align with the asset owners' expectations to promote positive sustainability outcomes—an expectation held by many asset owners investing in sustainability focused funds. This mismatch has prompted regulatory bodies in various jurisdictions, including the FCA (2023), to consider stricter regulations governing the use of terms such as "responsible" and "sustainable" in investment fund nomenclature. Against such a backdrop, there is a need to recalibrate sovereign ESG scores on outcome based ESG measures.

The industry must be realistic about what sovereign ESG scores can and cannot achieve. Although sovereign ESG scores are instrumental in integrating ESG factors into the investment process and fostering broader sustainability discussions, evidence suggests they have limited effectiveness in reducing national emissions or advancing the achievement of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), as observed by Gosling and Walkate (2024). Nevertheless, transparent, and innovative ESG metrics covering sovereign entities can provide valuable insight for sovereign debt investors and continued innovation from the ESG provider industry will be critical in fostering more robust sustainability metrics. In lockstep, a globally coordinated effort to develop more robust measurement frameworks and taxonomies for a collection of sovereign sustainability issues and strengthening of the climate information architecture requires collaboration across international bodies, national regulators, and the financial sector (IMF 2021). Finally, a meaningful inclusion of financially material ESG factors in the credit rating process (Gratcheva et al. 2021c) will help refocus ESG investing towards sustainability focused outcome metrics.

Section 1: Evolving Market Landscape

The ESG industry has significantly evolved over the past several decades, with the data architecture supporting ESG investments now representing a multi-billion-dollar industry (Zehetmayr 2023). The concept of sovereign ESG, which involves considering diverse sustainability factors by sovereign debt investors, began gaining prominence in the latter part of the 2010s. This shift was propelled by the increasing demands of asset owners and policymakers for more socially and environmentally conscious investing. The international community's adoption of the Paris Agreement and SDG Agenda in 2015 further accelerated this trend. The ESG data architecture, a fundamental input into various sustainable finance investment processes, is distinct and is viewed as complementary to sovereign credit ratings and is increasingly a factor in influencing the flow of capital globally (FTSE Russell 2022; Gratcheva et al. 2021b; Gratcheva, Emery, and Wang 2021a; Mobilist 2022, 2023; World Climate Summit 2021).

This study focuses on sovereign ESG scores, building upon previous research on ESG issues in sovereign debt. Sovereign ESG scores play an important role in the informational architecture for ESG investing in the sovereign debt asset class and can influence sovereign investment decisions where sustainability is the objective (Allianz Global Investor 2019; JP Morgan 2022; Macquarie Asset Management 2023). This paper builds on a World Bank publication series focused on ESG issues in sovereign debt investing, drawing on a multi-year collaboration with diverse industry stakeholders. The series provides practical, evidence-based recommendations for market participants, including institutional investors, sovereign issuers, credit rating agencies, ESG data and service providers, among others.

The 2021 publication "Demystifying Sovereign ESG" (Gratcheva, Emery, and Wang 2021a) demonstrated the significant differences between sovereign and corporate ESG, highlighting the need for distinct approaches by investors, ESG providers regulators, and other stakeholders. In contrast to the "aggregate confusion" (Berg, Kölbel, and Rigobon 2022) observed in corporate ESG scores, sovereign ESG scores demonstrated a high correlation across providers. Notably, almost 90 percent of these scores were attributable to the country's level of development, introduced as the "ingrained income bias", that affected sovereign ESG scores across all providers. The study also revealed that sovereign ESG methodologies conflated "ESG-related risks" and "ESG-related impact". Additionally, while sovereign S and G scores were highly correlated across providers, the low correlation of sovereign E scores revealed a lack of consensus on what constituted a strong sovereign environmental performance.

This updated paper takes a renewed look at sovereign ESG scores based on a comparative analysis⁶ of the sovereign ESG scores of seven leading data providers, estimated to represent about 80 percent of the sovereign ESG data market⁷. While the term "ESG" has become increasingly contentious and challenged amid concerns over greenwashing (Generali Investments 2022; RepRisk 2023), the ESG data and consulting industry has continued to expand, as noted in multiple industry assessments (Foubert 2022, Zehetmayr 2023). Since the initial study, the number of sovereign ESG providers has increased,

⁶ The nature of the analysis conducted is driven by the availability, granularity, and opaqueness of the data available from the various ESG providers.

⁷ Based on authors' estimates. Most providers do not provide a breakdown of the size of their sovereign ESG data business, so it is difficult to assess the relative popularity of one provider over another. Our estimate is based on a range of industry surveys, conversations with asset managers, and fixed income index providers.

alongside notable acquisitions in the sector and a rise in the number of investors developing their own ESG methodologies (Brady and Hirai, 2021). Furthermore, many investors are developing in-house sovereign ESG methodologies to reflect their specific preferences and views on sovereign sustainability. However, most investors still procure sovereign ESG data from external providers for compliance purposes, as well as a complementary benchmarking tool.

The past two years have marked a significant shift in the financial sector's relationship with sustainability. These changes have been fueled by several factors, including geopolitical shocks in Europe and the Middle East, the rapid tightening of interest rates in advanced economies, increasing regulatory scrutiny on ESG market practices, as well as advancements in understanding the impacts and limitations of sustainable finance⁸ (Lagoarde-Segot 2019). Amid the uncertain global landscape, asset owners continue to pursue sovereign ESG approaches when investing in sovereign bonds (Cox and Wescombe 2023; Natwest 2023; Robeco, 2023; Scheer et al. 2023). The market's demand for sustainability is becoming increasingly nuanced (Edmans 2024)⁹, with investors applying their own unique lens to sovereign ESG and drawing from a diverse array of information sources, including but not limited to sovereign ESG scores, to identify countries with exemplary sustainability practices (Robinson-Tillett 2024). According to many investors, taking this more tailored approach is critical at the sovereign level, given the multifaceted dimensions of a country's sustainability profile. Many investors increasingly seek to engage with sovereign debt management offices on key ESG issues about their country, and these efforts are often conducted as a group (UNPRI 2020, 2023).

Our study comes at a time of increasing regulatory focus on the ESG provider industry. In July 2021, the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) published a consultation (IOSCO 2021a) and subsequent "IOSCO Recommendations" (IOSCO 2021b) on ESG ratings and data product providers. It recommended that regulators should play closer attention to the use of ESG ratings and data products and the activities of ESG providers in their jurisdictions. In November 2022, IOSCO published a call for action to all voluntary standard-setting bodies and industry associations, to promote measures to counter greenwashing by asset managers and ESG providers (IOSCO 2022). A report published in 2023 reviewed the initiatives undertaken in various jurisdictions to tackle greenwashing, aligning with the 2021 recommendations and the 2022 Call for Action (IOSCO 2023). Addressed at voluntary standard-setting bodies and financial industry associations, this call for action demands improved reliability, comparability, and interpretability of ESG products to ensure investors have access to sustainability-related information that is internationally consistent and comparable (Cleary Gottlieb 2023). Annex 1 provides an update on the current regulatory backdrop for ESG providers across jurisdictions.

The challenges EMDEs encounter in mobilizing finance for climate action (and broader development goals) have been extensively documented (IMF, 2023; NGFS, 2023), highlighting contrasting

⁸ Proponents of integrating social ontology into finance argue that sustainable finance's main limitation lies in the inherent contradiction between the deep qualitative changes brought about by impact investment and the rigid content of mainstream academic finance. They view sustainable finance and traditional financial theory as being at odds in terms of how knowledge is gained, the understanding of reality, and the methods applied in their respective frameworks, and call for epistemological, ontological, and methodological rethinking in order for sustainable finance to rise to the challenges of the current sustainability crisis.

⁹ For example, Edmans (2024) proposes that the term "ESG" be replaced with "rational sustainability," which encompasses a holistic view of value creation, considering all relevant factors beyond the ESG label. It critically evaluates the materiality of ESG factors based on evidence and analysis, aiming to identify genuine sustainability and avoid "irrational sustainability bubbles."

perspectives on sustainability: AEs primarily prioritize climate change, whereas EMDEs emphasize a broader development agenda. For example, in 2020-2021, the World Bank surveyed its client countries¹⁰ to identify their development priorities. Among the surveyed nations, education emerged as the top priority, selected by most respondents, with priorities such as employment, peace and justice, health, and industry ranking highly. Climate ranked 12th out of 16 categories, mentioned by fewer than 20 percent of respondents as one of their six most significant concerns (Center for Global Development 2023).

The paper proceeds as follows. Section 2 examines sovereign ESG methodologies and both aggregate and individual G, S, and E scores, across a selection of providers that offer sovereign ESG products. Section 3 presents empirical results of analytical comparisons of sovereign ESG scores across ESG providers and contrast the findings with comparable results from the 2021 study, where possible. Section 4 analyzes the composition of the sovereign environmental pillar to provide deeper insights into how ESG providers assess a country's sustainability profile, while section 5 offers conclusions and suggestions for a possible way forward.

¹⁰ See the World Bank's Country Opinion Surveys at https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/world-bank-country-opinion-surveys.

Section 2: Sovereign ESG Providers Included in Study

We review the ESG methodologies of seven leading data providers that offer sovereign ESG data products. Several credit ratings agencies have recently launched sovereign ESG products. However, they declined to take part in our study due to various regulatory and industry-specific considerations. Over the past few years, various sovereign ESG-related data products have also been launched, focusing on various sustainability issues, including SDG alignment (e.g., Impact Cubed) and climate risks (e.g., Bloomberg). The proliferation of bespoke product offerings reflects an increasingly competitive sovereign sustainability data architecture – supported by investor demand for more specialized sovereign sustainability measures and regulatory initiatives to improve competition and not inhibit innovation in the sector (Council of the European Union 2024). Indeed, private sector initiatives like the Assessing Sovereign Climate-Related Opportunities and Risks are also providing additional data sources for sovereign debt investors on sustainability-related matters (Scheer et al. 2023).

To ensure a consistent approach we limit our analysis to those commercial providers that offer a sovereign sustainability data product built around the auspices of a broad sovereign ESG framework. As in the 2021 study, the ESG providers shared their sovereign ESG scores, internal methodology documents and relevant analytical papers, engaging openly with us throughout the study. These providers have shared their data and insights on sovereign ESG issues from their unique perspectives, responding to structured questionnaires and participating in follow-up discussions. Table 1 summarizes the sovereign ESG products of providers participating in the study.

Company	Product	Brief Description	Countries/ Regions Covered	2021 Participation	2023 Participation
LSEG	Sustainable Sovereign Risk Monitor (2SRM)	Incorporates levels of development in a general score by weighting indicators differently based on income. Focuses on multiple standardization methods to create scores.	151	Yes	Yes
ISS ESG	ISS ESG Country Rating	Assesses the extent to which a sovereign issuer successfully manages salient risks related to ESG themes. Uses absolute scores for all countries.	175	Yes	Yes
MSCI	ESG Government Ratings	Focuses on exposure and management of ESG issues.	198	Yes	Yes
RepRisk	RepRisk Index for Countries (Country RRI)	Quantifies ESG and business conduct risks within a country on a daily basis. Measures a country's absolute risk, which is typically lower for wealthier countries.	198 countries, 52 territories	Yes	Yes

Table 1: ESG providers included in the analysis

Robeco	Country Sustainability Ranking	Robeco's country sustainability ranking offers insights into a country's strengths and weaknesses on a broad selection of E, S, and G factors. Complements traditional sovereign risk analysis and uses standardization and weighting to impute scores.	150	Yes	Yes
Sustainalyti cs	Country Risk Ratings	Uses standard ESG measures to create a normalized aggregate ESG score, weighing governance issues the most heavily, followed by social and environmental issues.	172	Yes	Yes
V.E	Sovereign Sustainability Ratings	Places greater emphasis on sustainable development materiality. E, S, and G are equally weighted. ESG score balances two indicators.	180	Yes	No
Verisk Maplecroft	Sovereign ESG Ratings dataset	Leverages cluster analysis across nine dimensions of risk to create scores. Uses geospatial subnational data, particularly for environmental indicators; unstructured data that is interrogated using artificial intelligence; some expert-scored governance indicators; and structured/tabular datasets, with around 350 indicators driving the subset of data.	198	No	Yes

Sources: Authors' summary of methodological documents; ESG providers.

Note: All 2021 participants (except V.E) and Verisk Maplecroft joined the 2023 study. ISS ESG refers to Institutional Shareholder Service Environmental, Social, and Governance; LSEG is the London Stock Exchange Group; MSCI refers to Morgan Stanley Capital International. V.E was acquired by Moody's in 2019.

Since the 2021 study, we have observed improved transparency across some sovereign ESG provider methodologies in terms of disclosing the scope of data included and the weighting of each indicator. An increasing number of providers now offer deeper insights into their methodologies, specifically regarding (i) the indicators and data sources included under each pillar, (ii) the weightings of E, S, and G issues in the overall ESG score calculation, and (iii) the scoring calculation methodologies. Nevertheless, there remains an opportunity for further improvement, as several ESG providers are yet to disclose insights on their data sources, the weightings of respective E, S, and G scores within the aggregate score calculations, and the weightings of individual indicators and sub-indicators within respective pillars, as detailed further in Annex 2. During our discussions with the study participants, the rationale for limited disclosure was often linked to the commercial sensitivity of their proprietary models.

ESG providers increasingly seek to stand out in the market by adopting unique methods to evaluate a sovereign's ESG performance, each leveraging their perceived strengths within the sector. Figure 2.1 visually represents the sovereign ESG methodologies based on providers' E, S, and G weights (where public) and the composition of the individual pillars. Providers' primary and supplementary documents vary significantly in specificity concerning their methodologies and insights into the underlying objectives and analysis. Consequently, these documents are not readily comparable across different providers. To produce a comparable visual representation, we engaged in several rounds of detailed clarifications with the ESG providers to identify the level of granularity of each indicator included under the respective E, S, and G pillars.

Each ESG provider's methodology is presented in a multi-tiered approach for each respective pillar. For example, within the environmental pillar, LSEG identifies three indicators—Energy, Climate, and Natural Capital—each comprising five, four, and four sub-indicators, respectively. In most cases, the data providers conduct a mathematical rescaling of the data inputs to derive an overall E, S, and G composite score. Combining datasets from diverse disciplines to create a sustainability measure remains both conceptually and practically challenging.



Figure 2.1: Summary of providers' sovereign ESG methodologies by pillar and indicator

Sources: Authors' calculations; ESG data providers.

Note: Illustrations based on public methodology documents and following consultation with ESG providers. If publicly available, the number of sub-indicators by indicator is denoted in white. Due to Verisk Maplecroft's clustering methodology, it is not possible to state the number of indicators used per sub-indicator.

Since the 2021 study, when most providers did not transparently outline what their scores sought to measure, a somewhat clearer definition of the objectives of sovereign ESG scores has been emerging, although ambiguities remain. Most ESG providers have begun to identify their products as "risk" products focused on measuring a sovereign's ESG risks and opportunities from a financial materiality perspective (Moussavi and Moya 2023). This development has also been supported by an increasing regulatory focus (Annex 1).

While ESG providers use the term "sustainability" in different contexts, its definition is often unclear and complicated by the intricate nature of what sustainability means for a sovereign. While the definition of sustainability, as outlined by the World Commission on Environment and Development in 1987, is globally recognized as the goal of sustainable development, i.e. focusing on satisfying current needs without compromising the ability of future generations to meet theirs, most sovereign ESG methodologies do not aim to quantify these outcomes, even when marketed as sustainability products. Furthermore, environmental and ecological economists differentiate between two contrasting perspectives on the relationship between economic development and environmental conservation: weak and strong sustainability suggests that different forms of capital can be substituted, whereas strong sustainability emphasizes the importance of preserving natural capital (Neumayer, 2013). These concepts of weak and strong sustainability are critical in discussions about the balance between economic growth and environmental conservation, and they should be integrated in policy formulation, resource management, and the assessment of the environmental impact of economic activities.

Traditionally, the concept of "sustainability" was primarily associated with public policy and the social sciences. However, increasing recognition of the significance of non-financial risks and the adoption of the "double materiality" perspective have prompted more open discussions about the role of the financial industry. These discussions focus on understanding how sustainability intersects with the institutional and fiduciary mandates of investors within a rapidly evolving regulatory landscape (Baumstein et al., 2023; Bauslaugh, 2021; Muir, 2022). Market participants will likely continue to seek specific guidance from regulatory or public policy bodies on adequately integrating sustainability issues into the investment process – particularly in an era characterized by greenwashing litigation and related risks (Serenelli 2023).

Section 3: Empirical Analysis of Sovereign ESG Scores

This section analyses the current sovereign ESG score universe (aggregate and individual E, S, and G pillar scores) to test how revisions in providers' methodologies are reflected in the respective scores. Despite providers' attempts to apply distinct methodologies, we observe ongoing convergence in sovereign ESG scores, primarily attributable to a country's development level. The average correlation¹¹ among providers is 0.84 compared to 0.85 for the 2021 study, with individual correlations ranging from 0.71 to 0.96, as Figures 3.1 and 3.2 illustrate. We continue to see close alignment among providers on the G pillar scores (0.70 in 2023 vs. 0.71 in 2021), some reduced correlations for the S pillar scores (0.70 in 2023 vs. 0.71 in 2021), some reduced correlations for the S pillar scores (0.70 in 2023 vs. 0.71). These results are also similar when adjustments are made for the minor differences in the group of ESG providers included in the 2021 and current analyses (Figure 3.2)





Source: Authors' calculations. Note: All correlation matrices are ordered based on the providers showing the highest composite ESG score correlations.

¹¹ Calculated using Pearson's correlation coefficient, which measures the linear correlation between two sets of data.

The inconsistent scoring in the E pillar highlights the challenges investors and policymakers face in aligning environmental issues with sustainability and financial outcomes, alongside the challenge of obtaining comprehensive and reliable environmental datasets for a wide array of countries. A significant portion of this issue is attributed to measuring sustainability outcomes across various countries and the tradeoffs that these outcomes (i.e., time horizons) frequently present in relation to financial materiality.





Providers assign different weightings to individual E, S, and G pillars based on their unique considerations. The average weights for E, S, and G have changed from 29 percent, 28 percent, and 43 percent in the 2021 study to 33 percent, 29 percent, and 38 percent (Figure 3.3), with the weight for the E pillar increasing at the expense of the G pillar. About 75 percent of this adjustment is driven by the changed weightings by FTSE and Robeco, while the remainder is driven by the inclusion of Verisk Maplecroft in the current study.

The G pillar continues to hold the most prominent weight for most providers. In discussions with ESG providers, the consensus was that governance issues receive more emphasis because effective management of environmental or social risks cannot be mitigated without good governance. Nevertheless, responding to market demand for better integration of environment and climate-related factors, providers have emphasized the E pillar in terms of its weight and composition. Both Robeco and LSEG have increased their respective E pillar weights since the 2021 study. The E pillar is now the most significant component of the overall ESG score for LSEG, ISS ESG and Verisk Maplecroft. This development is also driven by providers' increased engagement with investors on their evolving investment objectives and preferences in environmental and climate aspects.

A minority of providers (two out of seven) use quantitative methods to create a weight for the E, S, and G contributions to the consolidated ESG score. This approach is based on their assessment of the

materiality of specific risks. In contrast, the other providers do not articulate how they derive the weightings for each pillar. For example, LSEG applies different weightings for AEs and EMDEs derived from econometric modeling. While the exact weightings are not disclosed for the E and S pillar, for the G pillar, the average weight is the same for both AEs and EMDEs, at 16.6 percent. Nevertheless, the weightings assigned to individual indicators within the G pillar differ. For example, for EMDEs, the indicators Voice and Accountability and Political Stability are weighted 8.1 and 0.2 percentage points higher, respectively, than in AEs. Other indicators, such as Control of Corruption, receive a lower weighting to compensate. For some indicators, such as Physical Risk, Transition Risk, Air Pollution, Water Stress, Biodiversity, and Food Security, LSEG applies equal weights, irrespective of the country's level of economic development, rather than deploying econometric methods. This is because of a lack of a "direct theoretical link to sovereign credit risk," even though they acknowledge that these indicators can help "predict the severity of economic impact in the short, medium and long term." RepRisk uses data mining techniques to calculate dynamic weights per indicator based on a country's E, S, and G materiality. Under their methodology, an incident index is calculated based on the normalized average severity of risk incidents over the last two years, with more recent incidents receiving a higher weighting. Verisk Maplecroft, on the other hand, currently does not provide estimates for the weight of each index, largely due to the clustering analysis that underlies their methodology.



Figure 3.3: Average weightings of individual ESG data providers - 2021 study vs 2023 study

Note: RepRisk's breakdown of pillar percentages varies for each country, rather than applying a uniform aggregate pillar weight across all sovereigns. Weights for Verisk Maplecroft are based on authors estimates.

Higher Sovereign ESG scores remain closely associated with countries with higher income levels. Figure 3.4 illustrates an ongoing non-linear income bias between sovereign ESG scores and a country's income, persisting even after conducting a regression-based income adjustment. A closer look at the adjusted (orthogonalized) ESG scores shows that while the linear dependency between income categories and ESG scores has been removed, the new scores exhibit a U-shaped or nonlinear relationship. High- and low-income countries score high on the orthogonalized ESG scale, while middle-income countries score the lowest.

Figure 3.4: Sovereign ESG and the income bias



Source: Authors' calculations.

Over the last three years, some providers have recognized the ingrained income bias, with two launching specific income adjusted sovereign ESG products (see Annex 3)¹². While most investors focus on ESG primarily for risk management, a niche segment of sovereign debt investors is making a concerted effort to incorporate sustainability factors more effectively. For these investors, income-adjusted scores are particularly relevant. These investors aim to deploy sovereign ESG methodologies that prioritize factors contributing to sustainability, accounting for the specific stage of economic development of the respective countries¹³.

Income-adjusted scores have outsized impacts on aggregate scores for certain countries and regions – with the average 14 percent decrease for high and upper middle-income countries and 46 percent increase for lower-middle and lower-income countries. The Middle East experiences the largest decrease in ESG scores on average (-33 percent), and the largest income-adjusted score increases are concentrated in Africa (+ 42 percent). While other providers acknowledge the ingrained income bias, they have concluded that addressing this bias within their methodologies is not deemed essential. Their focus remains explicitly on measuring sovereign ESG risks, which they view as increasing for countries with lower levels of development.

¹² LSEG and Verisk Maplecroft have introduced statistical adjustments in their methodology to account for the income bias. Robeco, while not adjusting for the income bias in their sovereign ESG methodology have launched a separate sovereign sustainability product which evaluates countries based on their policy alignment with SDGs, their accessibility to capital intended for sustainable growth, and their foundational commitment to sustainability principles. We see reductions in the correlation between GNI per capita and ESG scores for all providers that control for income.

¹³ Based on feedback from some market participants, income adjusted scores could also be of interest to risk focused EM debt investors who seek to justify investments by finding metrics that suggest compatibility with ESG standards.

While recognizing the strides made by ESG providers in mitigating the inherent biases in some sustainability metrics, additional measures beyond mere statistical adjustments are necessary. These solutions demand a concerted international policy commitment and a multi-disciplinary approach to delve into the conceptual foundations of various sustainability issues across different stages of economic development. Formalizing this understanding through the establishment of a global sovereign sustainability taxonomy or guidelines could support ESG providers and the industry to align better with global sustainability objectives.

Section 4: The Sovereign Environmental Pillar

Our results highlight the need for a deeper understanding of sovereign environmental risk and what environmental sustainability means at the sovereign level. While divergence in the E pillars across providers (Annex 4) signals the financial world's still nascent understanding of the sovereign E pillar, it also underscores the differing perspectives on which E issues are most material. Conversations with the industry indicate that investors have different motivations for including E criteria in their framework. For example, while many investors traditionally focused on physical climate risks, such as flooding and natural disasters, there has been an increasing focus on greenhouse gas emissions, given their links to climate transition risks. Since the 2022 adoption of the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework by COP15 (UNEP, 2022) biodiversity and natural capital have also gained increasing attention from investors. Furthermore, following the shock to energy systems due to the Russian invasion of Ukraine, investors have been revising their views of energy transition to more nuanced strategies that balance the issues of energy transition, energy security, and energy affordability. Still, practical considerations, such as the availability of high-quality, comparable data across countries and time, disproportionately affect investors' views and can become a binding constraint on what E factors are included in the analysis and decision-making by a particular provider.

We analyze each ESG provider's E methodologies to further understand the diverse approaches to the sovereign E pillar. Analyzing providers' E methodologies is non-trivial, as methodologies are neither consistent nor adequately transparent. Nevertheless, the study is an initial attempt to understand the methodologies in a coherent and comparable way. To do this, we try to map each E dimension included in each ESG provider's methodology into parsimonious, mutually exclusive pillars of different environmental issues, to the extent possible. We derive five broad E themes and use these as our benchmarks for mapping each provider's E methodology coverage. Figure 4.1 provides a mapping of the various E issues to help visualize the E coverage of each provider.

Based on the resulting mapping of the providers' current E pillars, we discern an emerging trend of providers gravitating towards more "specialist" vs "generalist" approaches, indicating a potential trade-off for users of the scores. Figure 4.1 highlights the diversity in environmental assessment methodologies among ESG providers, reflecting their unique perspectives and areas of expertise. LSEG, Verisk Maplecroft, and Robeco demonstrate relatively broad approaches in their E assessments, with Verisk Maplecroft being the only provider that incorporates aspects of all 5 sub-components in its sovereign E assessment, albeit with a smaller weight in the overall E pillar. ISS ESG focuses more on energy and climate issues in their E assessment but also considers sustainable development and biodiversity. LSEG and Verisk Maplecroft are the only providers who incorporate environmental policy in their methodologies, though it is not a significant consideration for either. In addition, we note that Verisk Maplecroft includes energy and water security under their S pillar and is thus excluded from the E pillar. MSCI primarily focuses on energy and resource management, incorporating a variety of risk measures into their assessment. Finally, Sustainalytics focuses mostly on energy and resource management, relying heavily on the World Bank wealth accounting framework for their sovereign E assessment.

Methodologies focused on various E issues might seem more comprehensive than those focusing on a specific E issue. However, the practicality of including a wide variety of data points into a consolidated E score may not

be useful for investors focused on sustainability outcomes alongside financial returns. This suggests a need for more targeted, outcome-oriented evaluation frameworks that can effectively balance comprehensive environmental assessments with investors' specific sustainability goals.





Source: Authors' illustration.

Note: Mapping is based on the authors' assessment of the various indicators employed in each respective ESG provider's sovereign E methodologies, utilizing public methodology documents. Exceptions include two providers who did offer a complete breakdown of their data points. Given the methodologies' lack of transparency and ambiguous indicator definitions, caution is advised when interpreting the mapping results.

We use this initial mapping to dig deeper into each E dimension based on the methodological documents of each provider. To maintain consistency, our mapping follows the same nomenclature: (I) E dimension, (ii) indicator, and (iii) sub-indicator. Figure 4.2 provides an overview of each ESG provider's E methodology based on this mapping. We observe significant differences in the information transparency on how each issuer approaches the E pillar. All ESG providers disclose basic information on the E dimensions covered by their score, while most disclose information on respective indicators under each dimension. However, only a few disclose granular information on sub-indicators, and the number of indicators used for each sub-indicator varies significantly. For most providers, the number of indicators directly influences the E weighting, while some providers have assigned explicit weights to each E dimension. Most providers do not disclose information on weights for indicators and sub-indicators.



Figure 4.2: Summary of providers' sovereign E methodologies by indicator and sub-indicator

Source: Authors' illustration.

Note: Indicator and sub-indicator weightings are estimated for LSEG, as this information is not public. The number of sub-indicators for each indicator is denoted if the information is public. For Verisk Maplecroft, other indices (115 in total) are included as part of each sub-indicator and a complete breakdown of the approach and indices included are available to clients.

Section 5: Conclusions

The analysis underscores persistent challenges within the sustainable finance industry, specifically through an examination of sovereign ESG score methodologies. It reveals the complexities of crafting a coherent sustainability strategy, compounded by the lack of a universally accepted definition of "sustainability". This fundamental ambiguity is further complicated by divergent investor sustainability preferences, as noted by Berg, Kölbel, and Rigobon (2023), and the distinct challenges of defining sustainability for sovereign issuers. Moreover, the reliance on oversimplified metrics, which consolidate multiple interdisciplinary issues into a single ESG measure, risks diluting the accuracy and depth of analyses. Consequently, financial entities face increasing risks of greenwashing accusations (Generali Investments 2022; RepRisk 2023) and a rising tide of legal challenges (Roy et al. 2022)

The findings highlight ambiguities around what sovereign ESG scores aim to measure despite some increased transparency in ESG provider methodologies. Most sovereign ESG scores used by the industry focus on evaluating sustainability risks that could impact financial returns – and not those that impact positive sustainability outcomes. This raises fundamental questions about the added value of a distinct sovereign ESG framework, as such an approach falls within the domain of traditional risk-adjusted return investing (Edmans, 2023).

In their current form, sovereign ESG scores do not align with the asset owners' expectations to promote positive sustainability outcomes—an expectation held by many asset owners investing in sustainability focused funds. This mismatch has prompted regulatory bodies in various jurisdictions, including the FCA (2023), to consider stricter regulations governing the use of terms such as "responsible" and "sustainable" in investment fund nomenclature. Against such a backdrop, there is a need to recalibrate sovereign ESG scoring methodologies to reflect countries' developmental stages better. This necessitates a clear demarcation between impact-oriented and financial materiality within ESG methodologies to prevent the conflation that blurs investor understanding and objectives.

Although sovereign ESG scores are instrumental in integrating ESG factors into the investment process and fostering broader discussions, evidence suggests they have limited effectiveness in reducing national emissions or advancing the achievement of SDGs, as observed by Gosling and Walkate (2024). Notwithstanding, transparent ESG metrics covering sovereign entities can provide valuable insight for sovereign debt investors and continued innovation in the ESG provider industry will be critical to fostering more robust investment metrics. In these circumstances, ESG scores can serve both as a transitional tool, contributing to the broader discourse on sustainability and the reorientation of investment processes to accommodate emerging norms as well as a metric to drive positive sustainability outcomes (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1: The "transition" of Finance

Sources: Gratcheva et al. (2021b; figure 1.4, page 30); Urban and Wójcik (2019; figure 1, page 5).

As methodologies for evaluating the ESG performance of sovereign entities evolve, the sovereign debt management community should strive to understand these diverse approaches. Such engagement is crucial for effectively communicating a country's sustainability strengths and areas of improvement to investors, fostering transparency. While current ESG scoring methodologies primarily rely on quantitative metrics, a shift toward more nuanced, detailed assessments of sovereign sustainability performance is emerging, with a focus on in-house sovereign ESG frameworks (Wäingelin 2022). Debt managers can gain a significant advantage by proactively sharing information on government ESG initiatives and incorporating ESG-related risks into debt sustainability analyses, thereby offering investors and ESG score providers with richer, forward-looking insights.

Finally, the identified challenges are an industry-wide issue, and the burden should not be carried by data providers or regulators alone. A globally coordinated effort is required to develop more robust measurement frameworks and taxonomies for sovereign sustainability issues and to strengthen the climate information architecture. This effort will necessitate collaboration across international bodies, national regulators, and the financial sector, as emphasized by the IMF (2021). A meaningful inclusion of financially material ESG factors in the credit rating process will help refocus ESG investing towards sustainability-focused outcome metrics (Gratcheva et al. 2021c).

Annex 1. Regulating the ESG Rating Industry

This annex, focusing on key jurisdictions, provides a broad overview of the dynamic regulatory landscape surrounding the ESG data industry as of March 2024. For a more in-depth overview, International Organization of Securities Commission's (IOSCO) sheds light on international efforts and supervisory initiatives to enhance the transparency and reliability of ESG ratings and data providers (IOSCO, 2023).

ESG regulations are still at a formative stage, not least due to the political contestability of an ESGinformed approach to investing (Mobilist 2023). Several jurisdictions, such as the EU, India, Japan, Singapore, and the UK, have or are in the process of issuing guidance or enacting regulation. The push for regulatory oversight was fueled by IOSCO recommendations in 2021, and the codes of conduct and regulations that followed are primarily based on these. Nevertheless, there have been calls for formalizing the high-level IOSCO recommendations into a set of principles to inform regulation. Most regulators appear to be focused on increasing transparency, addressing misconduct concerns, and improving market integrity. Furthermore, they have indicated that they "will not tell providers what their products must measure and will not restrict innovation" (Hurley, 2024a).

In the UK, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) appointed the International Capital Market Association and International Regulatory Strategy Group to convene an industry group to develop a voluntary code for data and ratings providers. The FCA, the Treasury, and other national and international financial regulators acted as observers during the code's development. In 2023, the FCA encouraged the ESG data and ratings providers to engage with and sign up to the code. The role of FCA is crucial since the section pertains to regulatory initiatives (FCA, 2023). Based on the IOSCO recommendations, the code focuses on governance, transparency, and managing conflicts of interest, aligns with global efforts, and promotes international best practices, even in jurisdictions without regulatory plans. In Japan, the recently published voluntary code (FSA, 2024) is designed to improve the transparency and functioning of the ESG providers, while in India, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI 2023a) issued a licensing and regulatory framework (SEBI 2023b). Meanwhile, Singapore has a published code of conduct for ESG rating and data product providers (MAS 2023).

In Europe, the EU Commission agreed on the text for ESG ratings regulation in February 2024 (Council of the European Union 2024), following a market consultation in mid-2022 (European Commission 2022). The regulation aims to strengthen the quality and reliability of ESG ratings by increasing transparency and integrity in the operations of ESG rating providers and mitigating potential conflicts of interests. The requirements also include transparency on the consideration of double materiality—specifically, whether the ratings assess both the material financial risks to the rated company and the entity's material impact on the environment and society, or whether they focus solely on one aspect. The regulation imposes less stringent requirements for small providers and imposes restrictions on ESG ratings providers offering certain other services, to avoid conflicts of interest (including consulting services, credit ratings, audit, and assurance) (Commerzbank 2024). In addition, financial institutions that disclose the use of ESG ratings as part of their marketing communications must include information on the methodologies used in these ratings on their website through amendments to the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (Hurley 2024b).

Finally, there have been limited public discussions in the United States on regulating ESG rating providers. As a part of its sustainability agenda, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has focused on standardizing climate-related disclosures by public companies (SEC, 2024). SEC rules published in March 2024 reflect "efforts to respond to investors' demand for more consistent, comparable, and reliable information about the financial effects of climate-related risks while balancing concerns about mitigating the associated costs of the rules" (SEC, 2024). Amid the emergence of multiple codes of conduct, there is some unease within the industry that the various codes and regulations may conflict with each other, especially due to differences in terminology or requirements. This will necessitate a globally consistent, harmonized set of principles (Pianese and Janiaud, 2024).

Annex 2. State of Sovereign ESG Detailed Disclosures across Providers

ESG provider	Climate modeling **	Are weights of sub- categories public?	Are weights of indivi dual indicators public?	Unique data sour ces (E pillar)	Update frequency	Methodology	In 2021 Study?
ISS ESG	No	Yes	No^	Not provi ded	Annually	Absolute performance expectations and normalization	Yes
LSEG	Yes	No^	No^	9	Quarterly	Standardization and normalization to construct scores; weightings sets for aggregation based on a calibration methodology	Yes
MSCI	No	Yes	Yes	16	Annually	Min. risk managem ent score, average. risk exposure score	Yes
RepRisk	No	Yes	No		Daily	Normalization	Yes
Robeco	Yes	Yes	No	27	Semi- annual	Normalization	Yes
Sustainalytics	Methodology not publicly available						
Verisk Maplecroft	Yes ^M	No	No^	Not provi ded^	Quarterly	Cluster analysis across nine dimensions of risk and 37 inputs, with the outputs then used to develop probability weighted ESG, E, S, and G scores	No

Sources: Authors' summary of methodological documents; ESG providers.

Notes: ISS ESG refers to Institutional Shareholder Service Environmental, Social, and Governance; LSEG is the London Stock Exchange Group; MSCI refers to Morgan Stanley Capital International. If information is provided to paying clients, it is denoted with a "^". If the element is included in methodology but not discussed in public methodology documents, it is denoted with "^." "--" for RepRisk's number of unique data sources for the E pillar reflects the fact that RepRisk does not explicitly have E, S, and G pillar data, although they do give a percentage weight of the overall score for each pillar based on the number of incidents tracked by their algorithm for a particular country (e.g., the percent breakdown is different for each country).

Annex 3. Addressing Income Bias in Sovereign ESG Scoring

Sovereign ESG scores continue to display a strong relationship with a country's income level. Figures 3a and 3b illustrate the current distribution of ESG and E scores across regions and income levels.



Figure 3a: Distribution of average sovereign ESG scores by region and income category





Source: Authors' calculations.

Note: Each box shows the interquartile range of scores within the income category, with the median score indicated by the line inside the box. The whiskers extend to the rest of the distribution, except for points determined to be outliers, which are plotted as individual points. ECA = Europe and Central Asia, SA= South Asia, LAC= Latin America and the Caribbean, SSA = Sub Saharan Africa, MENA- Middle East and North Africa.

Despite the continued income bias across current sovereign ESG score methodologies, Gratcheva, Emery, and Wang (2021a) led to some introspection within the industry. In response, ESG data providers increasingly strive for transparency in their methodologies. Some have acknowledged the ingrained income bias in their scoring systems and are taking steps to rectify it. For instance, LSEG adopted a univariate pooled ordinary least square (POLS) regression to neutralize the influence of income (FTSE, 2023). On a similar note, Verisk Maplecroft transitioned from an initial approach of peer group

benchmarking to a more nuanced non-parametric regression method. This technique adjusts scores based on relative income and considers the scores of neighboring countries.¹⁴

The impacts of these adjustments on ESG scores have been profound and varied across regions. Affluent regions like the Middle East have shown that their perceived ESG leadership is largely resourcedriven, as their scores plummet after income adjustments. In stark contrast, African countries and select island nations emerge as the genuine torchbearers of ESG, reflecting their intrinsic commitment to sustainability, irrespective of their income levels.

A noteworthy shift in the ESG landscape is the pivot toward scoring systems focused on the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Robeco among other providers, for example, evaluates countries based on their policy alignment with SDGs, accessibility to capital intended for sustainable growth, and their foundational commitment to sustainability principles. This method inherently favors countries with lower and medium incomes, acknowledging the unique challenges and opportunities they present. Similarly, Impact Cubed assesses a country's trajectory toward achieving the SDGs and the pace at which they progress. They employ objective metrics, steering clear of subjective ratings, to base their evaluations on a wide range of factors.

¹⁴ The approach transforms aggregate ESG, E, S and G scores into income-adjusted scores by using a Nadaraya-Watson estimator, a non-parametric kernel regression that allows for countries to be benchmarked relative to the ESG, E, S or G score that would be expected given their level of income.

Annex 4. E Correlations by Income Group and Region

There is little agreement among ESG providers on the sovereign E pillar at the income or regional level.





Source: Authors' calculations.

References and Resources

Allianz Global Investors. 2019. "ESG in Sovereign Bonds." <u>https://es.allianzgi.com/-</u> /media/allianzgi/eu/makler-spain-new/documents/sri-seminar/esg-in-sovereign-bonds.pdf

Baumstein, D. P., J. H. Hupart, W. G. McKitterick, and E. Shapiro. 2023. "Navigating Fiduciary Duties Amidst the Rise of Anti-ESG Rulemaking." Mintz Insight Center, Boston. <u>https://www.mintz.com/insights-center/viewpoints/2301/2023-02-15-navigating-fiduciary-duties-amidst-rise-anti-esg</u>

Bauslaugh, R. 2021. "Considering Climate Change is Part of Pension Trustees' Legal Responsibilities, a New Analysis Reveals. McCarthy Tétrault LLP, Toronto.

Berg, F., J. F. Kölbel, and R. Rigobon. 2022 "Aggregate Confusion: The Divergence of ESG Ratings." *Review of Finance* 26 (November): 1315–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/rof/rfac033</u>

Boitreaud, S., E. M. Gratcheva, B. G. O'Reilly C. Paladines, and A. Skarnulis. *Riding the Wave: Navigating the ESG Landscape for Sovereign Debt Managers*. Washington, DC: World Bank. <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/186931603441706045/Riding-the-Wave-Navigating-the-ESG-Landscape-for-Sovereign-Debt-Managers</u>

Brady, Andrew, and Anna Hirai. "Managing ESG Data and Rating Risk." The Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, July 28, 2021. <u>https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2021/07/28/managing-esg-data-and-rating-risk/</u>

Center for Global Development. "Do Clients Want the World Bank to Focus on Climate?" February 2023. <u>https://www.cgdev.org/blog/do-clients-want-world-bank-focus-climate</u>

Cleary Gottlieb. "First Steps Towards UK Regulation of ESG Ratings Providers: HM Treasury Consults." 2023. <u>https://www.clearygottlieb.com/-/media/files/alert-memos-2023/first-steps-towards-uk-regulation-of-esg-ratings-providers-hm-treasury-consults.pdf</u>

Cohen, François, Cameron J. Hepburn and Alexander Teytelboym. "Is Natural Capital Really Substitutable?", Annual Review of Environment and Resources. October 2019. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-101718-033055

Commerzbank. ESG Focus. EU agrees on drastic ESG rating regulation. 2024. Published on their on-line research platform 7 February 2024.

Council of the EU. "Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Ratings: Council and Parliament Reach Agreement." Press release, February 5, 2024. <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2024/02/05/environmental-social-and-governance-esg-ratings-council-and-parliament-reach-agreement/</u>

Daniel Nachtigall, Luisa Lutz, Miguel Cárdenas Rodríguez, Filippo Maria D'Arcangelo, Ivan Haščič, Tobias Kruse, Rodrigo Pizarro, "The Climate Actions and Policies Measurement Framework: A Database to Monitor and Assess Countries' Mitigation Action", Environmental and Resource Economics https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-023-00821-2, accepted October 2023.

European Commission. "Targeted Consultation on the Functioning of the ESG Ratings Market in the EU and on the Consideration of ESG Factors in Credit Ratings." 2022. https://commission.europa.eu/system/files/2022-08/2022-esg-ratings-summary-of-responses_en.pdf

Edmans, Alex. "Applying Economics—Not Gut Feel—to ESG", Financial Analysts Journal, September 2023. <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0015198X.2023.2242758</u>

FCA. "FCA Welcomes the Launch of Industry Code of Conduct for ESG Ratings and Data Products Providers." December 14, 2023. <u>https://www.fca.org.uk/news/news-stories/fca-welcomes-launch-industry-code-conduct-esg-ratings-and-data-products-providers</u>

FCA. "PS23/16: Sustainability Disclosure Requirements (SDR) and Investment Labels." FCA, November 28, 2023. <u>https://www.fca.org.uk/publications/policy-statements/ps23-16-sustainability-disclosure-requirements-investment-labels</u>

Florian Berg, Julian F. Kolbel and Roberto Rigobon, "Aggregate Confusion: The Divergence of ESG Ratings", 2022, <u>https://academic.oup.com/rof/article/26/6/1315/6590670</u>

Florian Heeb, Julian F Kölbel, Falko Paetzold, Stefan Zeisberger, "Do Investors Care about Impact?", August 2023, <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3765659</u>

Foubert, Anne-Laure. "ESG Data Is Now Worth It." April 19, 2022. Opimas. Accessed May 6, 2024. https://www.opimas.com/research/742/detail/

FTSE Russell, "Dealing with income bias in sovereign ESG scores – Sovereign ESG revisited". November 2022. <u>https://www.lseg.com/en/ftse-russell/research/dealing-income-bias-sovereign-esg-scores-sovereign-esg-revisited</u>

FTSE Russell, "Rethinking the sovereign environmental score assessment". February 2023. <u>https://www.lseg.com/en/ftse-russell/research/rethinking-sovereign-environmental-score-assessment-sovereign-esg-revisited</u>.

Generali Investments. "The Challenge of Integrating ESG into Sovereign Fixed Income," 2022. <u>https://www.generali-investments.com/it/en/institutional/article/the-challenge-of-integrating-esg-into-sovereign-fixed-income</u>.

Gratcheva, Ekaterina M., Teal L. Emery, and Dieter Wang. "Demystifying Sovereign ESG." SSRN, 2021a. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3854177 Gratcheva, Ekaterina M., Bryan O'Reilly Gurhy, Teal Emery, Dieter Wang, Luis E. Oganes, Jarrad K. Linzie, Lydia Harvey, Katherine Marney, Jessica Murray, and Rupert Rink. "A New Dawn – Rethinking Sovereign ESG." Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group, 2021b. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/694901623100755591/A-New-Dawn-Rethinking-Sovereign-ESG

Gratcheva, Ekaterina M., Bryan Gurhy, Andrius Skarnulis, Fiona E. Stewart, and Dieter Wang. "Credit Worthy: ESG Factors and Sovereign Credit Ratings." World Bank, EFI Insight-Finance, Washington, DC, 2021c. <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/812471642603970256/pdf/Credit-Worthy-ESG-</u> Factors-and-Sovereign-Credit-Ratings.pdf

Hurley, Michael. "EU agrees ESG ratings regulation text, plans to consider extending it to ESG data." EnvironmentalFinance.com, 2024b. Accessed February 17, 2024. <u>https://www.environmental-finance.com/content/news/eu-agrees-esg-ratings-regulation-text-plans-to-consider-extending-it-to-esg-data.html</u>.

Hurley, Michael. "Regulating ESG ratings: Mission impossible?" EnvironmentalFinance.com, 2024a. Accessed February 17, 2024. <u>https://www.environmental-finance.com/content/analysis/regulating-esg-ratings-mission-impossible.html</u>.

IMF. "Strengthening the Climate Information Architecture." September 8, 2021. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/staff-climate-notes/Issues/2021/09/01/Strengthening-the-Climate-Information-Architecture-462887

IMF. "Global Financial Stability Report: Financial Sector Policies to Unlock Private Climate Finance in Emerging Market and Developing Economies." October 2023. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/GFSR/Issues/2023/10/10/global-financial-stability-report-october-2023</u>

IOSCO. "IOSCO Consults on ESG Ratings and Data Providers." IOSCO/MR/20/2021. Madrid, July 26, 2021a. <u>https://www.iosco.org/news/pdf/IOSCONEWS613.pdf</u>

IOSCO. "Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Ratings and Data Products Providers." FR09/2, 2021b. <u>https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD690.pdf</u>.

IOSCO. "Good Sustainable Finance Practices." 2022. https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD717.pdf

IOSCO. "Supervisory Practices to Address Greenwashing". December 2023 https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD750.pdf

IOSCO. "Recommendations on Sustainability-Related Practices, Policies, Procedures and Disclosure in Asset Management." 2023. <u>https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD690.pdf</u>

J.P. Morgan. "Sovereigns and ESG: Taking a Stance in a Complicated World," November 2022. https://am.jpmorgan.com/content/dam/jpm-am-aem/global/en/insights/portfolio-insights/fixed%20incomesovereigns-and-esg-full-whitepaper.pdf.

Lagoarde-Segot, Thomas. "Sustainable Finance. A Critical Realist Perspective." Research in International Business and Finance 47 (2019): 1–9.

Macquarie Asset Management. "ESG in Emerging Markets Sovereign Debt," 2023. <u>https://www.macquarie.com/au/en/about/company/macquarie-asset-management/institutional-</u> investor/insights/perspectives/esg-in-emerging-markets-sovereign-debt.html.

Maltais, Aaron and Nykvist, Björn: Understanding the role of green bonds in advancing sustainability, Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment, 2020. DOI: 10.1080/20430795.2020.1724864

Matos, Pedro. "ESG and Responsible Institutional Investing around the World: A Critical Review." SSRN, August 7, 2020. <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3668998</u>

Michael A. Urban, Dariusz Wójcik, "Dirty Banking: Probing the Gap in Sustainable Finance", 2019, https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/6/1745

Mobilist. "Drivers of Investment Flows to Emerging and Frontier Markets", June 2022.

Mobilist. "Resetting the ESG Investment Paradigm to Support Emerging Markets & Developing Economies", April 2023.

Moussavi, Julien, and Astrid Sofia Flores Moya. "Evidencing Financial Materiality of Sovereign ESG Risk". The Journal of Impact and ESG Investing (2023). <u>https://doi.org/10.3905/jesg.2023.1.082</u>

Muir, Sustainable Investing and Fiduciary Obligations in Pension Funds: The Need for Sustainable Regulation -- 2022 - American Business Law Journal - Wiley Online Library

NatWest, Results from global fixed income investors survey, "Climate Risks & Opportunities: What debt investors expect from issuers", May 2023

Neuberger Neuman, "Emerging Sovereigns and Sustainability". February 2022. https://www.nb.com/en/global/insights/whitepaper-emerging-sovereigns-and-sustainability

Neumayer, Eric. "Weak Versus Strong Sustainability: Exploring the Limits of Two Opposing Paradigms." 2003. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781781007082</u>

NGFS. "Scaling up Blended Finance for Climate Mitigation and Adaptation in EMDEs." December 2023. <u>https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/medias/documents/scaling-up-blended-finance-for-climate-mitigation-and-adaptation-in-emdes.pdf</u> NGFS. "Climate-related litigation: Raising awareness about a growing source of risk". 2021. https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/medias/documents/climate_related_litigation.pdf

Norges Bank Investment Management, "Our View on ESG Ratings", January 2024 https://www.nbim.no/en/publications/our-views/2024/esg-ratings/

Nuveen, "ESG investing in EM debt: enhancing sustainable development outcomes". 2022. <u>https://documents.nuveen.com/Documents/Nuveen/Default.aspx?uniqueid=b2ac2ece-6c97-4b1c-8fd2-1d5444353c88</u>

Peterson K. Ozili, "Theories of Sustainable Finance", Managing Global Transitions, March 2023, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4055371

Pianese, B. and Janiaud, A. More-guidelines-on-ESG-ratings-risks-fragmentation. 2024. Article accessed on 7 February 2024 at <u>https://www.thebanker.com/More-guidelines-on-ESG-ratings-risks-fragmentation-1706867822</u>

Reprisk 2023. On-the-rise-navigating-the-wave-of-greenwashing-and-social-washing. <u>https://www.reprisk.com/news-research/reports/on-the-rise-navigating-the-wave-of-greenwashing-and-social-washing</u>

Robeco, 2023 Global Climate Survey, "Are investors moving from aspiration to implementation?", March 2023

Robinson-Tillett, Sophie. IPA, "Investors' in-house ESG scores diverge more than providers' ratings", January 2024, <u>https://www.ipe.com/news/investors-in-house-esg-scores-diverge-more-than-providers-ratings/10070869.article</u>

Scheer, Antonina, Johannes Honneth, Setenay Hizliok, Simon Dietz, and Carmen Nuzzo. "ASCOR Framework: Methodology Note." Transition Pathway Initiative Centre, Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, London School of Economics and Political Science, 2023. https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/publication/ascor-framework-methodology-note

Schroders. "How Can Bond Investors Fairly Score Countries for ESG?" 2023. <u>https://www.schroders.com/en-us/us/intermediary/insights/how-can-bond-investors-fairly-score-countries-for-esg/</u>.

SEBI. "Master Circular for ESG Rating Providers (Erps)." SEBI. July 2023. Accessed May 8, 2024. <u>https://www.sebi.gov.in/legal/master-circulars/jul-2023/master-circular-for-esg-rating-providers-erps-73856.html</u>

SEBI. "Consultation Paper on ESG Disclosures, Ratings and Investing." Accessed May 8, 2024. <u>https://www.sebi.gov.in/reports-and-statistics/reports/feb-2023/consultation-paper-on-esg-disclosures-ratings-and-investing_68193.html</u> SEC. "The Role of ESG in the Capital Markets." 2023. <u>https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/lee-esg-2023-03</u>

SEC. "SEC Adopts Rules to Enhance and Standardize Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors". March 6, 2024. Securities and Exchange Commission. Accessed May 8, 2024. <u>https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2024-31</u>

Serenelli, Luigi. "Asset Managers Tread Carefully Following DWS's Fine by SEC." IPE, September 29, 2023. <u>https://www.ipe.com/news/asset-managers-tread-carefully-following-dwss-fine-by-sec/10069218.article</u>

The SustainAbility Institute, "Rate the Raters 2023: ESG Ratings at a Crossroads", https://www.sustainability.com/thinking/rate-the-raters-2023/

UN. "Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." 2015. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld

UNEP. "Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework." December 19, 2022. Accessed May 6, 2024. https://www.unep.org/resources/kunming-montreal-global-biodiversity-framework

UNPRI. Cox, Jasper, and Wescombe, Noah. "Considering Climate Change in Sovereign Debt." 2023. https://www.unpri.org/considering-climate-change-in-sovereign-debt

UNPRI. ESG engagement for sovereign debt investors. 2020. <u>https://www.unpri.org/sovereign-debt/esg-engagement-for-sovereign-debt-investors/6687.article</u>

Wäingelin, Jonas. "In House Analysis, Sovereign Debt, Engagement, Climate Transition, Biodiversity and Circular Economics." NordicInvestor, February 4, 2022. <u>https://nordic-am.com/aktias-esg-approach-with-markus-lindqvist</u>.

World Bank. "World Bank Country Opinion Survey Program." World Bank. Accessed May 6, 2024. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/world-bank-country-opinion-surveys</u> World Climate Summit, "ESG in Sovereign Bonds". October 2021. <u>https://www.worldclimatesummit.org/post/esg-in-sovereign-bonds</u>

World Commission on Environment and Development. 1987. *Our Common Future: The World Commission on Environment and Development.* Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Zehetmayr, Mike. "How ESG Data Markets Have Evolved for Financial Services." Ernst & Young, May 2023. <u>https://www.ey.com/en_us/financial-services-emeia/how-esg-data-markets-have-evolved-for-financial-services</u>

Zhou, Sili. "The Role of Green Finance in Environmental Protection: Two Aspects of Market Mechanism and Government Intervention." Environmental and Resource Economics 71, no. 3 (2018): 707–728

